Consolidated Financial Statements

Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
December 31, 2018 and 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.,
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and
2017, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes
in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:
• Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information, and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the consolidated Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kwan-Ho Song, CPA,
CA.

Toronto, Canada
March 26, 2019
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
[in thousands of U.S. dollars]
As at December 31,

2018

2017

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (note 8)
Income taxes recoverable
Inventories
Deferred contract costs
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net (note 9)
Goodwill (note 10)
Intangible assets (note 11)
Deferred income taxes (note 18)
Deferred contract costs
Other non-current assets
Total assets

15,312
229,916
2,877
53,800
18,840
3,940
324,685
6,334
45,177
24,680
10,306
9,617
520
421,319

5,248
292,502
95,020
22,800
3,142
418,712
6,823
45,404
33,395
11,132
11,155
1,262
527,883

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current
Bank overdraft
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 12)
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Deferred contract revenue
Other financial liabilities (note 13)
Total current liabilities
Other financial liabilities (note 13)
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred contract revenue
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

18,171
254,430
634
6,859
20,962
100,184
401,240
1,178
385
10,317
951
414,071

23,049
300,377
315
7,990
25,642
136,897
494,270
2,443
696
12,108
842
510,359

82,705
4,631
53
(83,106)
4,283
2,965
7,248
421,319

84,411
3,847
37
(73,615)
14,680
2,844
17,524
527,883

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 15)
Contributed surplus
Foreign exchange translation reserve
Accumulated deficit
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest (note 6)
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See accompanying notes
On behalf of the Board:
"Lazane Smith"
Lazane Smith

"Kevin Shank"
Kevin Shank

Director

President, CEO and Director
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
[in thousands of U.S. dollars except per share amounts]
For the years ended December 31,
Revenue (note 20)
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Employee compensation and benefits (note 21)
Other selling, general and administrative expenses
Income before the following:
Depreciation and amortization
Finance expense
Change in fair value of liabilities (note 23)
Other expense, net (note 22)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for income taxes (note 18)
Loss for the year
Income for the year attributable to non-controlling interests
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to loss for the year:
Exchange gain on translation of foreign operations
Total comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss attributable to shareholders

2018

2017

1,373,630
1,210,477
163,153
116,442
31,172
15,539
11,352
6,120
653
877
(3,463)
1,007
(4,470)

1,511,641
1,342,890
168,751
116,249
28,384
24,118
11,257
5,450
209
4,402
2,800
8,428
(5,628)

121
(4,591)

429
(6,057)

16
16
(4,454)
(4,575)

35
35
(5,593)
(6,022)

(4,591)

(6,057)

Loss per common share (note 15):
Loss attributable to common shareholders
Basic
Diluted
See accompanying notes
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$ (0.12)
$ (0.12)

$
$

(0.15)
(0.15)

Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
[in thousands of U.S. dollars]

Foreign
Common
Stock

Non-

Currency

Contributed
Surplus

Controlling
Interests

Translation
Reserve

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

Balance, December 31, 2016

86,983

2,416

2,275

2

(62,585)

29,091

Share-based compensation

-

498

-

-

-

498

(3,165)

1,112

-

-

-

(2,053)

593

(179)

-

-

-

414

-

-

-

-

(4,973)

(4,973)

-

-

-

35

-

35

-

-

140

-

-

140

Share repurchases
Stock options exercised
Common share dividends
declared (note 15)
Gain on translation of
foreign operations
Non-controlling interest
from business combination

-

-

429

-

(6,057)

(5,628)

Balance, December 31, 2017

Income (loss) for the year

84,411

3,847

2,844

37

(73,615)

17,524

Share-based compensation

-

461

-

-

-

461

Cash settlement of RSUs

-

(56)

-

-

-

(56)

114

(170)

-

-

-

(56)

(2,042)

614

-

-

-

(1,428)

Shares issued in vesting of RSUs
Share repurchases
Common share dividends
declared (note 15)
Stock options exercised

-

-

-

-

(4,900)

(4,900)

222

(65)

-

-

-

157

-

-

-

16

-

16

-

-

-

(4,591)

(4,470)

82,705

4,631

121
2,965

53

(83,106)

7,248

Gain on translation of
foreign operations
Income (loss) for the year
Balance, December 31, 2018
See accompanying notes
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
[in thousands of U.S. dollars]
For the years ended December 31,

2018

2017

(4,470)

(5,628)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Add (deduct) items not involving cash
Depreciation and amortization

11,352

11,257

Share-based compensation (note 16)

461

498

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

120

23

Provision for receivables

225

(487)

Deferred income taxes (note 18)

570

5,879

Amortization of loan fees (note 13)

324

320

653

209

Changes in non-cash working capital balances (note 24)

53,248

(805)

Cash provided by operating activities

62,483

11,266

-

400

(2,280)

(1,752)

Change in fair value of liabilities (note 23)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Business combinations (note 5)
Payments made on contingent consideration
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditures
Other intangible assets
Cash used in investing activities

55

2

(2,589)

(1,987)

(13)

-

(4,827)

(3,337)

(36,412)

(2,118)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net change in debt facilities
Net change in flooring arrangements

(3)

(700)

Net change in bank overdraft

(4,878)

(1,424)

Common share dividends paid

(4,900)

(4,973)

Common share repurchases

(1,428)

(2,053)

Stock options exercised

157

414

Cash settlement of RSUs

(56)

-

Taxes withholdings on vesting RSUs

(56)

-

(47,576)

(10,854)

10,080

(2,925)

5,248

8,153

(16)

20

15,312

5,248

Cash used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange fluctuations on cash held
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
See accompanying notes
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc. (“Pivot” or the “Company”) is located in Ontario, Canada, and is
publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and trades under the symbol “PTG”.
The Company has the following wholly owned subsidiaries: Pivot Acquisition Corporation (“PAC”);
ACS Holdings (Canada) Inc.; Pivot Technology Solutions, Ltd., (“PTSL”); Pivot Research Ltd.; Pivot
Shared Services Ltd. (“PSSL”); Pivot of the Americas S.A. de C.V. (“POTA”); ACS (US) Inc. (“ACS”); New
ProSys Corp. (“ProSys”), Sigma Technology Solutions, Inc. (“Sigma”), ARC Acquisition (US), Inc. (“ARC”),
Smart-Edge.com, Inc. (“Smart Edge”), TeraMach Technologies Inc. and its subsidiaries, 1955714
Ontario Inc., Infoptic Technology Inc., and TeraMach Systems Inc. (collectively, “TeraMach”), and Pivot
Solutions International (UK) Ltd. (“Pivot UK”)
The Company also has the following partially owned subsidiaries: Pivot Services International
Singapore Pte Ltd. (“Pivot Singapore”) and Pivot Services Limited (“Pivot HK”). The Company has a
94% ownership in each of these subsidiaries.
In addition, the Company has a 46.4% owned consolidated affiliate, ProSys Information Systems, Inc.
(“Old ProSys”) and a 40% owned consolidated affiliate, Applied Computer Solutions, Inc. (“Applied”).
The Company seeks to create shareholder value by providing mission critical IT products and services
to the world’s leading companies. The Company’s operating strategy is designed to help clients
contain IT operations and maintenance costs, while maximizing the value of their IT assets. To achieve
this strategy, the Company maintains multi-vendor hardware, software and cloud solutions that it
resells, and then leverages its own resources and expertise to offer end-to-end services. By employing
this strategy, the Company can provide a single point of contact and accountability, and a consistent
delivery of customized and specialized IT services and lifecycle product support across any platform.
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Statement of compliance
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”).
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors
on March 26, 2019.
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Basis of presentation and consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value.
Certain amounts have been reclassified from the consolidated financial statements previously
presented to conform to the presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company,
using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, transactions, unrealized gains and
losses resulting from intercompany transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation. Noncontrolling interests represent the portion of net earnings and net assets that are not held by the
Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss
and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Critical judgments and estimates
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments on how to apply the Company’s accounting policies and make estimates about the future.
Due to the inherent uncertainty in making these critical judgments and estimates, actual outcomes
could be different.
The more significant judgments and estimates, where a risk that a material adjustment to the carrying
value of assets and liabilities in the next fiscal year could occur, relate to:
Revenue Recognition
The Company makes significant judgments in determining whether a promise to deliver goods or
services is considered distinct and in determining the costs that are incremental to obtaining or
fulfilling a contract with a customer.
Distinct goods and services
The Company makes judgments in determining whether a promise to deliver goods or services is
considered distinct. The Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they
are distinct (i.e. if a product or service is separately identifiable from other items in the bundled
package and if the customer can benefit from it). The consideration is allocated between separate
products and services in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling prices.
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Determining costs to obtain or fulfill a contract
Determining the costs that the Company will incur to obtain or fulfill a contract that meets the
deferral criteria within IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) requires
significant judgments.
The Company uses estimates in the following key areas:
Determining the transaction price
The transaction price is the amount of consideration that is enforceable and to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods and services we have promised to our customer.
The Company determines the transaction price by considering the terms of the contract and
business practices that are customary within that particular line of business. Discounts, rebates and
other incentives are reflected in the transaction price at contract inception.
Determining the stand-alone selling price and the allocation of the transaction price
The transaction price is allocated to performance obligations based on the relative stand-alone
selling prices of the distinct goods or services in the contract. The best evidence of a stand-alone
selling price is the observable price of a good or service when the entity sells that good or service
separately in similar circumstances and to similar customers.
Impairment
Impairment exists when the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. The key
assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs are further explained
in note 7.
Taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable income will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based
upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable income together with future tax planning
strategies. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows from operations
and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and
taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to realize the net
deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted. Additionally, future changes
in tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods.
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in
profit or loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Company’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the CGU retained.
Intangible assets, other than goodwill
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized
development costs, are not capitalized and expenditures are reflected in the consolidated statements
of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted
for by changing the remaining amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the expense category
consistent with the function of the intangible assets.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss when the asset is derecognized.
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

The Company has no indefinite lived intangible assets.
A summary of the policies applied to the Company’s intangible assets is as follows:
Type
Customer and vendor relationships
Technology
Other

Amortization method
Straight-line basis over 10 years
Straight-line basis over 5 years
Straight-line basis over 5 to 15 years

Foreign currency
Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the reporting entity
operates and is normally the currency in which the entity generates and expends cash. Each entity in
the Company determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Company has determined
that the functional currency of each entity in the consolidated group is U.S. dollars, with the exception
of TeraMach. The functional currency of TeraMach is the Canadian dollar. The Company translates
the financial statement accounts using the methodology noted below.
Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency spot rate at the reporting date. All differences are recorded in
the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.
Translation
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange
rates and their revenue and expense items are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of
the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
The Company recognizes a financial asset in its statement of financial position when the Company
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All financial assets are initially
recorded at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and classified as either (i) financial
assets subsequently measured at amortized cost, (ii) financial assets subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income or (iii) financial assets subsequently measured at fair
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

value through profit or loss. The basis of classification takes into consideration both the Company’s
business model for managing and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if the financial asset
is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortized cost
or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Fair value changes in financial assets classified
as fair value through profit or loss, if any, are recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and
comprehensive loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
when the Company transfers its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and the associated risks
and rewards to a third party.
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings
including bank overdrafts.
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described
below:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) are satisfied.
This category applies to contingent consideration and the interest rate swap.
Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. Gains and losses are recognized in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, canceled or
expires.
Determination of fair value
Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The fair
value of instruments that are quoted in active markets is determined using the quoted prices. The
Company uses valuation techniques to establish the fair value of instruments where prices quoted in
active markets are not available. Therefore, where possible, parameter inputs to the valuation
techniques are based on observable data derived from prices of relevant instruments traded in an
active market. These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and
judgment, the degree of which will depend on the price transparency for the instrument or market
and the instrument’s complexity.
The Company categorizes its fair value measurements according to a three‐level hierarchy. The
hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used by the Company’s valuation techniques. A level is assigned to
each fair value measurement based on the lowest level input significant to the fair value measurement
in its entirety.
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets.
Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for
similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.
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Pivot Technology Solutions, Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(unless otherwise noted all amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Level 3 – Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.
The fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of financial position comprise cash at banks
and on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less.
The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost of inventories, which consist
primarily of finished goods, is generally determined by the purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property,
plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition
criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Company recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciation. Repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss as incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
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3 to 5 years
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Shorter of the estimated life of the asset or the lease term
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An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss when the asset is derecognized.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial
year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized
as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.
Revenue
The Company generates revenue from distributing storage devices and systems as well as computer
products and peripherals. The Company also provides value-added services such as design,
integration, installation, maintenance and other consulting services, consolidated with a variety of
storage and computer hardware and software products.
Product sales are recognized upon transfer of control to the customer (shipment) and when all
significant contractual obligations have been satisfied and collection is reasonably assured. Revenue
from the sale of software is recognized upon transfer of control to the customer (release of the
software code). Both the revenue from the sale of hardware and the sale of software codes is deemed
to be earned at a point in time with each contract constituting one performance obligation. Service
revenue is recognized when service is rendered. Revenues from the sale of maintenance contracts
are recorded as deferred revenue at the time the maintenance contract is invoiced and are recognized
on a pro-rata basis over the service period. The transaction price associated with the performance
obligations are determined by the respective contractual agreements.
The Company assesses its revenue arrangements in order to determine if it is acting as a principal or
agent. In arrangements where the Company is acting as agent, revenue is recorded net of the related
costs.
Where the Company is not the primary obligor for the maintenance contracts performed by third
parties, these arrangements do not meet the criteria for gross revenue presentation and, accordingly,
are recorded on a net basis. At the time the Company enters into contracts with third-party service
providers or vendors, the Company determines whether it acts as a principal in the transaction and
assumes the risks and rewards of the rendering of the service or if it is simply acting as an agent or
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broker. Revenue on maintenance contracts performed by internal resources is recognized on a gross
basis rateably over the term of the maintenance period.
Vendor rebates
The Company receives funds from vendors for price protection, product rebates, marketing,
promotions and other competitive pricing programs. The Company accounts for these rebates and
other incentives received from its vendors, relating to the purchase of inventories, as a reduction of
cost of sales and inventories.
Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interests in the Company’s less than wholly-owned subsidiaries are classified as a
separate component of equity. Non-controlling interests are recorded at their proportionate share of
the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired on initial recognition. Subsequent to the acquisition
date, adjustments are made to the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests for the noncontrolling interests’ share of changes to the subsidiary’s equity. In the event an arrangement (either
contractual or statutory) exists between the Company and the non-controlling interest whereby
losses and all commitments are assumed by the parent entity, then net income is allocated between
the Company and non-controlling interest on the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive
loss in accordance with the terms of the arrangement.
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
recorded as equity transactions. The carrying amount of non-controlling interests is adjusted to reflect
the change in the non-controlling interests’ relative interest in the subsidiary and the difference to
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests and the Company’s share of proceeds received
and/or consideration paid is recognized in equity and attributed to the shareholders of the Company.
Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable are recognized and carried at their original invoice amount less an allowance for
any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful accounts is made when collection of the full
amount is no longer probable. Balances are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed
as being remote.
Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of
the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use
of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is
not explicitly specified in an arrangement.
Finance leases which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of
the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments
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are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in
finance costs in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.
A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable
certainty that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Provisions
A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the settlement of the
obligation will require a financial payment or cause a financial loss, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured using the Company’s management’s
best estimate as to the outcome based on known facts as at the reporting date. Provisions for onerous
leases are recognized when the Company believes that the unavoidable costs of meeting or exiting
the lease obligations exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under the lease.
Income taxes
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated
statements of financial position date.
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

•
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Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilized, except:
•

•

Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss;
In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to items recognized
outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognized in
correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing the performance of the operating segments.
Pension plan
The Company operates a defined contribution pension plan for certain of its employees. Contributions
are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss as they
become payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.
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Share-based payments
The Company has a share-based payment plan under which the Company issues stock options and
restricted share units (“RSU”). Employee options granted under the plan generally have a term of five
or ten years and vest either immediately or in specified increments, which is typically two to three
years. Consultant stock options vest over a one year vesting period with 50% of the options vested
and exercisable immediately and the remainder vested and exercisable in equal quarterly installments
over the remaining year. The Company applies a fair value method of accounting to each installment
of stock options granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants.
The grant date fair value of stock options granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants is
recognized as share-based compensation expense, with a corresponding increase to contributed
capital, over the period that the directors, officers, employees and consultants become
unconditionally entitled to the stock options. The expense is adjusted to reflect the estimated number
of options expected to vest at the end of the vesting period. Compensation cost is recognized so that
each tranche in an award with graded vesting is considered a separate grant with a different vesting
date and fair value. No compensation expense is recognized for options that are forfeited and have
not met the service requirement for vesting. When options are exercised, the proceeds, as well as
the related amount in contributed capital, are credited to share capital. The Company uses the BlackScholes option pricing model to determine fair value of stock options at the grant date. Measurement
inputs include the price of shares on the measurement date, exercise price of the option, expected
volatility, expected life of the option, expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate. Weighted
average volatility and the forfeiture rates used are based on historical information.
Shares issued pursuant to any RSU award may be made subject to vesting conditions based upon the
satisfaction of service requirements, restrictions, time periods or other conditions established by the
board. The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issued under the restated plan
pursuant to the exercise of RSUs shall not exceed 1,250,000 shares. The maximum number of common
shares which may be reserved and set aside for issuance upon the grant or exercise of RSU or stock
option awards under the plan is 10% of the Company’s common shares issued and outstanding from
time to time on a non-diluted basis. The fair value of RSUs is measured on the grant date based on
the closing fair market value of the Company’s common stock. The resulting cost is recognized over
the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the awards, usually
the vesting period which is generally one to three years for RSUs. Compensation expense for RSUs
incorporate an estimate for expected forfeitures. Additional RSUs are credited to reflect dividends
paid on common shares over the vesting period.
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Impairment
The Company’s tangible and intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment at each date
of the consolidated statements of financial position. If indication of impairment exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles are
tested for impairment annually on October 1.
An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset, or its CGU, exceeds its
recoverable amount. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Impairment
losses are recognized in profit or loss for the period. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to CGUs and then to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets in the CGU on a pro-rata basis.
The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.
4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
New standards and interpretations adopted in 2018
The Company adopted the following accounting standards and interpretations effective for our
consolidated financial statements commencing January 1, 2018. These changes did not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial results.
• Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment
• IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
Pivot applied, for the first time, IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 that require assessment and potential restatement
of previous financial statements, where transition adjustments exist.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 which was effective January 1, 2018. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations and it applies to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts are in the scope of other standards.
Under the standard, revenue is recognized when the Company satisfies its performance obligations.
Performance obligations are satisfied when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services
in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those
goods or services. In addition, the standard requires revenue to be disaggregated into categories and
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disclosure of the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers. The Company has three categories of revenue from contracts with
customers including product sales, sales of services and third-party maintenance contracts.
The standard requires entities to exercise judgment, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts
and circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The
standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs
directly related to fulfilling a contract.
Pivot adopted IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method of adoption. There was no
quantitative impact from the adoption of IFRS 15. Additional revenue disclosures were added in note
20. In addition, new assets and liabilities have been recognized on the Company’s consolidated
statements of financial position. Specifically, a contract asset and contract liability is recognized to
account for any timing differences between the revenue recognized and the amounts billed to the
customer for third-party maintenance contracts.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting
for financial instruments: classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.
Previously under IAS 39, the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities included cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, bank overdraft, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, secured
borrowings, contingent consideration liabilities, and interest rate swap liability. Except for the
contingent consideration and interest rate swap, which were recorded at fair value through profit or
loss, all other instruments were measured at amortized cost under IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, the Company
has classified cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable based on the business model and
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instruments, which remained unchanged and continues
to be held at amortized cost. Similarly, the classification and measurement of each of the financial
liabilities have not changed. There was no transitional impact as a result of the adoption of the new
classification and measurement requirements.
The Company has previously used the incurred loss approach in the accounting for impairment losses
for financial assets held at amortized cost. Upon transition to IFRS 9, the Company is using a forwardlooking expected credit loss approach. For its accounts receivable and any contract assets, the
Company has applied the simplified approach and has calculated lifetime expected credit losses based
on the Company’s historical credit loss experience and consideration for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. Cash equivalents held at amortized cost are
considered to be low credit risk investments and any expected credit loss is determined based on the
12-month expected credit loss approach. There was no transitional impact as a result of the adoption
of the new impairment requirements.
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As the Company does not currently use hedge accounting, there was no impact from that perspective.
Standards issued but not yet effective
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of the issuance of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards issued which the Company reasonably
expects to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they
become effective.
IAS 12 Income tax consequences of payments on instruments classified as equity (Amendments to
IAS 12)
IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) requires a company to recognize the tax consequences of dividends
in profit or loss in some circumstances.
The amendments to IAS 12 clarify that a company accounts for all income tax consequences of
dividends in the same way, regardless of how the tax arises, and are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases
On January 13, 2016, the IASB published a new standard, IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”). The new
standard eliminates the distinction between operating and finance leases and brings most leases onto
the balance sheet for lessees. Lessees must recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The
right-of-use asset is treated similarly to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly, and
the liability accrues interest. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease. Lessees are
permitted to make an accounting policy election, by class of underlying asset, to apply a method like
IAS 17, Leases (“IAS 17”), operating lease accounting and not recognize lease assets and lease liabilities
for leases with a lease term of twelve months or less, and on a lease-by-lease basis, to apply a method
similar to current operating lease accounting to leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, and its related interpretations. Application of the standard is mandatory
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and is to be applied retrospectively.
The Company expects that IFRS 16 will result in an increase in assets and liabilities as fewer leases will
be expensed when payments are made. The Company expects an increase in depreciation and
interest expenses, a decrease in operating expense and an increase in cash flow from operating
activities as these lease payments will be recorded as financing outflows in the Company’s cash flow
statement. The Company expects that most of the transition to IFRS 16 will be derived from its
operating leases, which will be recognized on the Company’s balance sheet effective January 1, 2019.
The Company will use the modified retrospective approach resulting in no restatement of prior year
comparatives. The quantitative impact of adopting IRFS 16 will be provided in the Company’s Q1 2019
interim financial statements.
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International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments
In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”), to clarify
the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. This interpretation specifies that if a company
concludes it is probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, it is required to
determine the taxable profit or loss consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used in
its income tax filing. If it is not probable, the entity is required to reflect the effect of uncertainty for
each uncertain tax treatment by using either of the following methods, depending on which method
the entity expects to better predict the resolution of the uncertainty:
• Most likely amount: Single most likely amount in a range of possible outcomes;
• Expected value: Sum of the probability weighted amounts in a range of possible outcomes.
A company is required to apply IFRIC 23 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with
early application permitted. The Company did not early adopt IFRIC 23 and does not expect a
significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.
5. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Applied Computer Solutions, Inc.
On September 1, 2017, the Company acquired 40% of the issued and outstanding share capital of
Applied for consideration of $14,202. This consideration was comprised of $40 in cash and $14,162
in intercompany receivables due from Applied that now eliminate upon consolidation, and therefore
are treated as part of the purchase price. Applied’s principal office is located in Huntington Beach,
California, United States of America.
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The allocation of fair value to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the date of
acquisition were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Inventories
Other current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets (customer relationships)
Other non-current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred tax liability
Taxes payable
Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Non-controlling interest
Goodwill arising on acquisition
Purchase consideration transferred

Fair value
recognized on
acquisition
440
205
62
34
5,102
83
5,926
3,767
20
1,903
3
5,693
233
(140)
14,109
14,202

The operations from the acquisition have been included in the results of Pivot commencing
September 1, 2017. From the date of acquisition, the acquired business contributed revenue of
$50,166 and net income of $645 to the income before taxes of the Company in 2017.
Acquired intangible assets of $5,102 relate to existing customer relationships.
Non-controlling interest of ($140) represents the net assets of Applied attributable to the
shareholders holding the remaining 60% of Applied.
The estimated goodwill of $14,109 is comprised of $5,109 related to the expected value of existing
vendor and customer relationships and $9,000 related to a contingent accounts receivable asset.
Although management believes this receivable amount will ultimately be collected, it does not meet
the criteria for recognition due to the level of uncertainty surrounding its realization. This goodwill is
not deductible for tax purposes.
Despite not owning a majority of the voting rights, management has determined that the Company
controls this entity for accounting purposes (note 6).
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6. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
The following table includes the significant subsidiaries and affiliates of the Company:
Equity Interest
Name
ACS Holdings (Canada) Inc.
Pivot Acquisition Corporation
1955714 Ontario Inc.
Infoptic Technology Inc.
TeraMach Systems Inc.
TeraMach Technologies Inc.
ACS Holdings Corporation
Pivot of the Americas S.A. de C.V.
Pivot Research Ltd.
Pivot Shared Services Ltd.
Pivot Technology Solutions Hong Kong Limited
Pivot Services Limited
Pivot Technology Solutions Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Pivot Services International Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Pivot Solutions International (UK) Ltd
Pivot Technology Solutions, Ltd.
ACS (US) Inc.
Applied Computer Solutions, Inc.
New ProSys Corp.
ProSys Information Systems Inc.
ARC Acquisition (US) Inc.
Sigma Technology Solutions Inc.
Smart-Edge.com, Inc.
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Jurisdiction
Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada
Mexico
Jersey
Ireland
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Singapore
Singapore
United Kingdom
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States

2018
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
94%
100%
100%
100%
94%
94%
100%
100%
100%
40%
100%
46%
100%
100%
100%

2017
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
40%
100%
45%
100%
100%
-
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Applied Computer Solutions, Inc.
Applied is a 40% owned affiliate of the Company, whose principal office is located in Huntington
Beach, California, United States of America. Despite not owning a majority of the voting rights,
management has determined that the Company controls this entity for accounting purposes, based
on the following facts and circumstances:
•

Pivot has the right in its sole discretion to either acquire, at any time, shares of Applied that it
does not already own, or to designate a different owner to purchase the shares provided such
transfer(s) are in compliance with applicable Women Business Enterprise (“WBE”)
requirements.
The Applied board of directors is made up of a majority of Pivot employees.
Any significant decision made at Applied requires the approval of the Applied board of
directors, including board changes, payment of dividends, mergers or acquisitions, material
changes to compensation, incurring debt in excess of $100, causing any material change in
the business, and/or assignment or termination of any material agreement.

•
•

The following table summarizes the post-acquisition financial information of Applied, as included in
its own financial statements:
2018

2017

860

168

Non-current Assets

19,316

19,854

Current Liabilities

17,640

17,294

1,903

1,903

281,671

50,166

(192)

645

Current Assets

Non-current Liabilities
Revenue
Total Comprehensive Income
% interest held

40%

40%

(1,169)

(15,171)

Cash provided by investing activities

-

439

Cash provided by financing activities

1,180

14,883

11

151

Cash used in operating activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Total sales attributable to the activities of Applied were $281,671 and $174,547 for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Amounts due from Applied were $16,122 and $14,883 as
at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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Old ProSys
Old ProSys is a 46.4% owned affiliate of the Company, whose principal office is located in Norcross,
Georgia, United States of America. Despite not owning a majority of the voting rights, management
has determined that the Company controls this entity based on the following facts and circumstances:
•

Pivot has the right to acquire, at any time, the remaining shares of Old ProSys it does not
already own.
Any significant decision made at Old ProSys requires Pivot’s agreement, including changes to
its board of directors, payment of dividends, mergers or acquisitions, material changes to
compensation, incurring debt in excess of $100, causing any material change in the business,
and/or assigning or termination of any material agreement.
Pivot receives the majority of the benefits from the activities of Old ProSys (95%+ of net
income historically from Old ProSys).

•

•

The Company has certain contractual arrangements with Old ProSys which provide the Company the
majority of the variable returns from Old ProSys activities. In addition, the Company holds a majority
of the director and officer positions, which provide control on a de facto power basis.
The Company has certain contractual arrangements with Old ProSys, whose activities and results are
consolidated with the Company. The Company is deemed to have primary exposure for the significant
risks and rewards associated with sales by Old ProSys to its third-party customers. Total sales
attributable to the activities of Old ProSys were approximately $425,302 and $403,198 for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Amounts due from Old ProSys were $83,173 and
$95,704 as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The following table summarizes the financial information of Old ProSys, as included in its own financial
statements:

Current Assets
Non-current Assets
Current Liabilities
Non-current Liabilities
Revenue
Total Comprehensive Income

2018

2017

89,890

101,689

-

-

83,666

95,904

-

-

425,302

403,198

439

77

% interest held

46.4%

45%

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

12,238

(33,544)

-

-

(12,238)

33,544

-

-

Cash used in investing activities
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
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7. GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT
The Company performed its annual test for goodwill impairment in the fourth quarters of 2018 and
2017 in accordance with its policy described in note 3. The recoverable amount exceeded the carrying
value for both 2018 and 2017. The valuation techniques, significant assumptions and sensitivities
applied in the goodwill impairment test are described below. The selection and application of
valuation techniques and the determination of significant assumptions requires judgment. The
recoverable amount for each CGU was determined using a fair value less costs to sell (“market”)
approach.
The market approach assumes that companies operating in the same industry will share similar
characteristics and that Company values will correlate to those characteristics. Therefore, a
comparison of a CGU to similar companies whose financial information is publicly available may
provide a reasonable basis to estimate fair value. Under the market approach, fair value is calculated
based on earnings multiples of benchmark companies comparable to the businesses in each CGU. Data
for the benchmark companies was obtained from publicly available information, and ranged between
5.9 and 7.9 times earnings.
The revenue and operating margin assumptions used were based on the individual CGU’s internal
forecast for the next fiscal year. In arriving at the forecast, the Company considered past experience
and inflation as well as industry and market trends. The forecast also took into account the expected
impact from new product initiatives, customer retention and efficiency initiatives. The Company has
used earnings multiples for its CGUs similar to the range for benchmark companies.
The recoverable amount for each CGU as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was in excess of its carrying
value.
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8. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
2018

2017

Less allowance for doubtful accounts

174,283
51,520
2,230
228,033
2,609
230,642
726

210,012
76,861
4,320
291,193
1,815
293,008
506

As at December 31,

229,916

292,502

2018
506
225
(5)
-

2017
1,031
38
(38)
(525)

726

506

Trade accounts receivable
Current
One to three months
Over three months
Other receivables

The continuity of the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
Provision for doubtful accounts
Balance at the beginning of year
Provision for doubtful accounts
Write off bad debts
Reversal of provision for amounts collected
As at December 31,
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and
fixtures

Computer and
other equipment

Total

Cost
As at December 31, 2016
Business combinations
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
Currency translation
As at December 31, 2017
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
Currency translation

5,330
6
602
29
(68)
56
5,955
1,010
282
(229)
(86)

2,166
15
171
(16)
(322)
29
2,043
307
(196)
(36)

8,318
13
1,214
(92)
(2,293)
78
7,238
1,272
(671)
(2,949)
(94)

15,814
34
1,987
(79)
(2,683)
163
15,236
2,589
(389)
(3,374)
(216)

As at December 31, 2018

6,932

2,118

4,796

13,846

Accumulated depreciation
As at December 31, 2016
Depreciation
Disposals
Currency translation
As at December 31, 2017
Depreciation
Reclassifications
Disposals
Currency translation

2,137
623
(67)
36
2,729
869
1
(149)
(49)

921
263
(317)
18
885
318
7
(135)
(31)

5,355
1,659
(2,274)
59
4,799
1,274
(8)
(2,915)
(83)

8,413
2,545
(2,658)
113
8,413
2,461
(3,199)
(163)

As at December 31, 2018

3,401

1,044

3,067

7,512

December 31, 2018

3,531

1,074

1,729

6,334

December 31, 2017

3,226

1,158

2,439

6,823

Net book value

The Company has no outstanding purchase commitments to purchase property, plant and equipment
as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
The Company has no significant fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that is still in use.
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10. GOODWILL
Cost and net book value
As at December 31, 2016
Business combinations
Foreign currency translation
As at December 31, 2017
Foreign currency translation

31,111
14,109
184
45,404
(227)

As at December 31, 2018

45,177

The Company has five CGUs, four of which include goodwill. The carrying value of goodwill for the
CGUs is identified separately in the table below:
ACS
ProSys
Sigma
TeraMach

2018
29,135
6,916
6,453
2,673

2017
29,135
6,916
6,453
2,900

As at December 31,

45,177

45,404

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Customer and
vendor
relationships

Purchased
technology

Internally
developed
technology

Other

Total

Cost
As at December 31, 2016
Business combinations
Disposals
Foreign currency translation
As at December 31, 2017
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
Foreign currency translation

76,639
6,205
211
83,055
(283)

5,000
5,000
-

4,103
4,103
-

1,103
(152)
5
956
13
385
(723)
-

86,845
6,205
(152)
216
93,114
13
385
(723)
(283)

As at December 31, 2018

82,772

5,000

4,103

631

92,506
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Customer and
vendor
relationships

Purchased
technology

Internally
developed
technology

Other

Total

Accumulated amortization
As at December 31, 2016
Amortization
Disposals
Foreign currency translation
As at December 31, 2017
Amortization
Disposals
Foreign currency translation

43,604
7,617
15
51,236
7,897
(61)

5,000
5,000
-

1,790
808
2,598
808
-

750
287
(152)
885
186
(723)
-

51,144
8,712
(152)
15
59,719
8,891
(723)
(61)

As at December 31, 2018

59,072

5,000

3,406

348

67,826

December 31, 2018

23,700

-

697

283

24,680

December 31, 2017

31,819

-

1,505

71

33,395

Net book value

Cloudscapes Consulting, Inc.
On July 1, 2017, the Company executed an Asset Purchase Agreement in order to acquire certain
customer accounts, contracts, agreements and other arrangements of Cloudscapes Consulting, Inc.
(“Cloudscapes”). The agreed upon purchase price for the acquired Cloudscapes assets is up to $1,350.
$100 was paid upon acquisition with the remaining $1,100 to be paid over eleven quarters at up to
$100 per quarter, commencing on October 1, 2017 and ending on April 30, 2020. Additionally, if
certain targets are achieved, a bonus of $150 could be paid. All remaining payments are based on the
achievement of certain gross margin targets.
The fair value of the total contingent liability was $1,003 on the date of acquisition and $636 and $930
on December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The identified intangible assets as of the date of the purchase agreement consisted of customer
relationships of $1,103 with a useful life of ten years.
12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

2018
215,784
38,646

2017
269,348
31,029

As at December 31,

254,430

300,377
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A subsidiary of the Company entered into a secured flooring agreement with IBM Global Finance
(“IBM”) on August 10, 2011, which provides short-term financing. The IBM secured flooring
agreement previously allowed up to $15,000 in advances on purchases from approved vendors. The
agreement was amended and restated on July 6, 2017, and now allows for up to $2,500 in advances
on purchases from approved vendors, which maximum advance amount may be changed by IBM in
its discretion. Approved vendors send invoices directly to IBM for payment and IBM bills the Company
monthly for vendor invoices received. Currently, the Company incurs interest on the outstanding
balance at LIBOR plus 4.5% after a free financing period of 60 days, but the interest rate and free
financing period may be changed in IBM’s discretion. Included within accounts payable, amounts
outstanding related to the IBM secured flooring agreement were $645 and $648 as at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Current
Secured borrowings, net of deferred loan costs
Contingent consideration
Interest rate swap
Non-current
Contingent consideration
As at December 31,

2018

2017

98,491
1,693
100,184

134,579
1,813
505
136,897

1,178
1,178

2,443
2,443

101,362

139,340

Secured borrowings
On September 21, 2015, the Company entered into a five year credit agreement with a lending group
represented by JPMorgan Chase (“JPMC”), providing the Company a $200,000 senior secured asset
based revolving credit facility (“JPMC Credit Facility”). The JPMC Credit Facility may be used for
revolving loans, letters of credit, protective advances, over advances, and swing line loans. Advances
under the JPMC Credit Facility accrue interest at rates that are equal to, based on certain conditions,
either (a) JPMC’s “prime rate” as announced from time to time plus 0.0% to 0.25%, or (b) LIBOR, or a
comparable or successor rate that is approved by JPMC, for an interest period of one month plus
1.50% to 1.75%, at the Company’s election. The effective interest rate for the year ended December
31, 2018 and 2017 was 3.92% and 3.20%, respectively. The Company may also, upon the agreement
of either the then existing lenders or additional lenders not currently parties to the agreement,
increase the commitments under the credit facility by up to an additional $50,000. The lenders under
the JPMC Credit Facility are not under any obligation to provide any such additional commitments,
and any increase in commitments is subject to several conditions precedent and limitations. The JPMC
Credit Facility is scheduled to expire on September 21, 2020. On January 14, 2016, the JPMC Credit
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Facility was amended, increasing the overall facility to $225,000. On September 30, 2016, a second
amendment was completed, primarily to allow for the purchase of TeraMach which was completed
on October 1, 2016. On December 9, 2016, a third amendment was completed, primarily to add
TeraMach to the borrowing group.
In connection with the JPMC Credit Facility, the Company incurred finance costs which have been
capitalized and are being amortized over the life of the credit agreement. Amounts owing under the
Company’s revolving credit facility was $99,069 and $135,481 as at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The outstanding balance is shown net of deferred loan costs of $578 and $902, as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, in current other financial liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial position. Average undrawn availability on the existing, secured credit facility
was $73,759 and $69,762 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Under the terms of the JPMC Credit Facility, the covenants require that the Company maintain a Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio of at least 1.1 to 1 on a trailing twelve month basis, triggered in the event that
availability is less than 12.5% of the revolving commitment until such time that availability has been
greater than 12.5% of the revolving commitment for thirty consecutive days.
Additional negative covenants place restrictions on additional indebtedness, liens, fundamental
changes to the Company’s legal structure, investments, asset sales, sale and leaseback transactions,
swap agreements, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, restrictive agreements,
amendment of material documents, and distribution of loan proceeds amongst the Company’s
subsidiaries. The declaration of dividends and acquiring shares under the NCIB are both restricted
payments under the JPMC Credit Facility, are subject to BOD approval, and must meet certain
minimums for availability and fixed charge coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with all
applicable covenants at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Additional secured borrowings included within accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position are further discussed in note 12.
Interest rate swap
On April 3, 2014, the Company entered into an interest rate forward swap agreement (“Swap”) to
mitigate the risk of fluctuating interest rates. The Swap expired on November 13, 2018. The changes
in the fair value of the Swap were recorded as a change in fair value of liabilities in the consolidated
statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Interest incurred under the Swap in 2018 through the
date of expiration totaled $426. Interest incurred under the Swap was $899 for the year ended
December 31, 2017. As at December 31, 2017, the fair value of the Swap was determined to be $505
which represented the cost that would have been incurred by the Company to exit the Swap, due to
fluctuations in future interest rate expectations.
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Contingent consideration
On October 1, 2016, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding share capital of
TeraMach. As part of the asset purchase agreement with TeraMach, contingent consideration had
been agreed. The payments are dependent on the business achieving certain performance targets
during the four consecutive twelve-month periods ending September 30, 2020. At the date of
acquisition, the fair value of the contingent liability was determined to be $3,324. The changes in the
TeraMach contingent liability balance for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as
follows:
2018

2017

Balance as at January 1,

3,326

3,427

Change in fair value

1,052

1,219

Payments

(1,880)

(1,552)

Exchange rate differences

(263)

232

Balance as at December 31,

2,235

3,326

The undiscounted value of the remaining consideration to be paid, assuming all contingencies are
met, is C$4,500. Payments of the remaining consideration are required to be made within five
business days of Board approval of the Company’s financial statements for the period ended
September 30.
On July 1, 2017, the Company acquired certain customer accounts, contracts, agreements and other
arrangements from Cloudscapes Consulting, Inc. (“Cloudscapes”). As part of the purchase agreement
with Cloudscapes, the Company is obligated to pay up to $100 per quarter for 11 quarters and a bonus
of $150, commencing on October 1, 2017 and ending on April 30, 2020. All payments are based on
the achievement of certain gross margin targets. At the date of acquisition, the fair value of the
contingent liability was determined to be $1,003. The undiscounted value of the remaining
consideration to be paid, assuming all contingencies are met, is $750.
The changes in the Cloudscapes contingent liability balance for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017 were as follows:
Balance as at January 1,
Contingent arrangements entered into during the period
Change in fair value
Payments
Balance as at December 31,
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2018
930

2017
-

-

1,003

106

27

(400)

(100)

636

930
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14. OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASES
The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable long-term operating
leases. It is expected that in the normal course of business these leases will expire and be renewed.
Future commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Years ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

Minimum
Lease
Payments
5,024
4,513
3,889
2,761
1,318
3,510
21,015

Expected
Sub-lease
Payments
(224)
(174)
(174)
(87)
(659)

Net
Operating
Lease
Payments
4,800
4,339
3,715
2,674
1,318
3,510
20,356

In July 2018, the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement with an unrelated third party that
expires in May 2019. The Company received $73 in sub-lease payments during 2018.
In August 2018, the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement with an unrelated third party that
expires in June 2022. The Company received $36 in sub-lease payments during 2018.
Rent expense, net of sub-lease payments received, amounted to $6,131 and $6,319 for 2018 and
2017, respectively, and is included within other selling, general and administrative expenses.
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15. SHARE CAPITAL
As at December 31, 2018, the issued share capital amounted to $82,705. An unlimited number of both
common and preferred shares, with no par value, are authorized for issuance. The changes in issued
share capital for the year ended December 31, 2018 were as follows:
# of Common
shares
As at January 1, 2018
Stock options exercised
Share repurchases and subsequent cancellations
Shares issued in vesting RSUs
As at December 31, 2018

40,229,930
123,959
(960,600)
79,743
39,473,032

Note: Share amounts are not rounded

As at December 31, 2017, the issued share capital amounted to $84,411. An unlimited number of both
common and preferred shares, with no par value, are authorized for issuance. The changes in issued
share capital for the year ended December 31, 2017 were as follows:
# of Common
shares
As at January 1, 2017
Stock options exercised

41,463,333
317,710

Share repurchases and subsequent cancellations

(1,551,113)

As at December 31, 2017

40,229,930

Note: Share amounts are not rounded

No preferred shares were issued or outstanding as at December 31, 2018 or 2017.
Normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”)
On March 30, 2016, the Company obtained the approval of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) to
implement a Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”) for its common shares. On November 28, 2016, the
TSX confirmed its acceptance of the Company’s existing NCIB upon the Company’s graduation to the
TSX. Under the NCIB, the Company was allowed to acquire up to approximately 5% of the Company’s
issued and outstanding common shares. The NCIB for the common shares of the Company terminated
on March 31, 2017. All common shares acquired under the NCIB were acquired at the market price
of the securities at the time of acquisition. The common shares so acquired were cancelled. During
the three-month period ended March 31, 2017, 250,000 common shares were acquired and
subsequently cancelled under the NCIB.
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On June 19, 2017, the Company obtained regulatory approval to proceed with a second NCIB to
repurchase up to 3,820,852, or approximately 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common
shares at prevailing market prices during the twelve months ending June 21, 2018. On June 20, 2018,
the Company received regulatory approval to proceed with a third NCIB to repurchase up to
3,789,551, or approximately 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares at
prevailing market prices during the twelve months ending June 21, 2019. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, 960,600 common shares were acquired and subsequently cancelled under its
NCIB programs.
Loss per share
Basic net loss per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted loss per share assumes the weighted average dilutive effect of common share
equivalents outstanding during the year applied to the Company’s basic earnings per share. Common
share equivalents represent potentially dilutive stock options and unvested RSUs. Common share
equivalents are excluded from the computation in periods in which they have an anti-dilutive effect.
The basic loss per share calculated amount is the same as the fully diluted loss per share amount as
the effect of any outstanding options or unvested RSUs would be anti-dilutive, as the Company was
in a loss position. The weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were 39,862,062 and 40,614,567, respectively. The
computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 did not
include options to purchase 2,118,750 and 1,946,875 shares, respectively, nor did it include 697,592
and 355,000 of unvested RSUs at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, as the result would have
been anti-dilutive.
Share repurchases
The Company cancelled shares repurchased from former directors during 2017 as follows:

Cancellation date
April 12, 2017
April 18, 2017

# of Shares
cancelled
750,000
170,313

Per share
amount
C$1.50
C$1.50

Total cost of
shares
C$1,720
C$1,695

Note: Per share amounts are not rounded

There were no share repurchases from former directors during 2018.
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Dividends declared and paid
Common share dividends declared and paid were as follows:
Declaration date
February 16, 2017
May 9, 2017
August 8, 2017
November 13, 2017
February 20, 2018
May 14, 2018
August 14, 2018
October 31, 2018

Record date
March 3, 2017
May 31, 2017
August 31, 2017
November 30, 2017
February 28, 2018
May 31, 2018
August 31, 2018
November 12, 2018

Distribution date
March 15, 2017
June 15, 2017
September 15, 2017
December 15, 2017
March 15, 2018
June 15, 2018
September 14, 2018
November 27, 2018

Per share amount
C$0.0400
C$0.0400
C$0.0400
C$0.0400
C$0.0400
C$0.0400
C$0.0400
C$0.0400

Total dividend
C$1,654
C$1,612
C$1,614
C$1,606
C$1,612
C$1,596
C$1,579
C$1,579

Note: Per share amounts are not rounded

16. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock options
The Company has adopted an incentive share option plan under which directors, officers, employees
and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive stock options. The effective
date of the plan was June 17, 2014. The plan was amended on May 16, 2016 and approved by
shareholders on June 21, 2016. The aggregate number of common shares to be issued, upon exercise
of all options granted under the plan, shall not exceed 10% of the issued common shares of the
Company, at the time the options were granted. Employee options granted under the plan generally
have a term of five or ten years and vest either immediately or in specified increments, which is
typically two to three years. The exercise price of each option is subject to Board approval but shall
not be less than the market price at the time of grant.
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and
during the years then ended follows:
2018

2017

Number

Weighted average
exercise price

Number

Weighted average
exercise price

1,946,875

C$1.79

2,162,500

C$1.63

510,000

C$1.68

435,000

C$2.47

Options forfeited

(214,166)

C$1.64

(332,915)

C$1.75

Options exercised

(123,959)

C$1.60

(317,710)

C$1.68

Options outstanding at December 31

2,118,750

C$1.79

1,946,875

C$1.79

Options exercisable at December 31

1,322,082

C$1.69

1,080,219

C$1.60

Options outstanding at January 1
Options granted

Note: Share and per share amounts are not rounded
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The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with weighted average assumptions for grants as follows:
Three month

2018

2017

Expected volatility

47.98%

71.34%

Risk free interest rate

2.15%

1.22%

Dividend yield

10.55%

6.47%

Forfeiture rate

5.5%

5.5%

3.1

3.5

Expected life

The range of exercise prices, the weighted average exercise prices and the weighted average
remaining contractual life of the Company’s options are as follows:
December 31, 2018
Options Outstanding

Exercisable Price
C$
1.60
1.68
1.73
2.47
2.61

Number
Outstanding
1,168,750
510,000
25,000
405,000
10,000

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
7.47
4.66
7.98
3.50
3.67

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
C$
1.60
1.68
1.73
2.47
2.61

December 31, 2017
Options Outstanding

Exercisable Price
C$
1.60
1.73
2.47
2.61
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Number
Outstanding
1,496,875
25,000
415,000
10,000

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
8.47
8.97
4.50
4.60

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
C$
1.60
1.73
2.47
2.61

Number Exercisable
1,168,750
25,000
134,999
3,333

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
7.47
4.66
7.98
3.50
3.67

Options Exercisable

Number Exercisable
1,055,219
25,000
-

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)
8.47
8.97
4.50
4.60
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Restricted stock units
The Company has adopted a restricted share plan that allows the Company to award RSUs to
directors, officers, employees and consultants upon such conditions as the Board may establish. The
effective date of the plan was June 17, 2014. The plan was amended on May 16, 2016 and approved
by shareholders on June 21, 2016. Shares issued pursuant to any RSU award may be made subject to
vesting conditions based upon the satisfaction of service requirements, restrictions, time periods or
other conditions established by the board. The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be
issued under the restated plan pursuant to the exercise of RSUs shall not exceed 1,250,000 shares.
The maximum number of common shares which may be reserved and set aside for issuance upon the
grant or exercise of RSU or stock option awards under the plan is 10% of the Company’s common
shares issued and outstanding from time to time on a non-diluted basis. The fair value of RSUs is
measured on the grant date based on the closing fair market value of the Company’s common stock.
The resulting cost is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide
service in exchange for the awards, usually the vesting period which is generally one to three years
for RSUs.
A summary of the status of the Company’s RSU plan as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and during
the years then ended follows:
2018
Weighted average
grant date
Number
fair value

2017
Weighted average
grant date
Number
fair value

Units outstanding at January 1

355,000

C$2.47

-

-

Units granted

410,000

C$1.66

390,000

C$2.47

64,205

C$1.68

-

-

Units released

(118,334)

C$2.47

(30,000)

C$2.47

Units forfeited

(15,159)

C$2.47

(5,000)

C$2.47

Units outstanding at December 31

695,712

C$1.91

355,000

C$2.47

Units reinvested (dividends)

Note: Share and per share amounts are not rounded

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was $679 and $528, respectively, of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested RSU arrangements. This expense is expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 2.5 years.
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Share-based compensation expense
Total share based compensation expense is recognized in employee compensation and benefits in the
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. A reconciliation of the share-based
compensation expense is provided below:
2018

2017

Share-based compensation on options

186

378

Share-based compensation on RSUs

275

120

461

498

Total share-based compensation expense

17. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s capital management objectives are to maintain financial flexibility in order to pursue
its strategy of organic growth and to provide returns to its shareholders. The Company defines capital
as the aggregate of its shareholders’ equity and non-cash working capital financial liabilities.
Total managed capital is as follows:
Other financial liabilities (note 13)
Shareholders’ equity
As at December 31

2018
101,362

2017
139,340

7,248

17,524

108,610

156,864

The Company manages its capital structure in accordance with changes in economic conditions. In
order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may elect to issue or repay long‐term
debt, issue shares, repurchase shares, pay dividends or undertake any other activities as deemed
appropriate under the specific circumstances.
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements and there has been no
change in the Company’s capital management approach during the year.
18. INCOME TAXES
Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
2018

2017

Current tax expense

489

2,549

Deferred tax expense

518

5,879

1,007

8,428
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On December 22, 2017, a comprehensive U.S. tax reform bill originally known as the "Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act" was enacted into law. The Company recognized the effect of the Tax Reform in its 2017
consolidated financial statements, even though the effective date of the law for most provisions was
January 1, 2018. The Company's 2017 consolidated financial statements included a one-time charge
to net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2017 of approximately $5,829 to reflect the remeasurement
of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities due to the lower U.S. corporate income tax rate
which was reduced from 35% to 21%. The ultimate impact of the Tax Reform Legislation may differ
from the Company's estimates, possibly materially, due to changes in the interpretations and
assumptions made by the Company as well as additional regulatory guidance that may be issued and
actions the Company may take as a result of the Tax Reform Legislation.
The provision for income taxes differed from the amount computed by applying the combined federal
and provincial statutory rate as follows. Any change in the applicable tax rate reflects appropriate
enacted law.

Expected income tax at combined statutory rate
Unrecognized temporary differences

2018

2017

(919)

699

97

754

Permanent differences

899

833

Differences in income tax rates of foreign jurisdictions

277

(135)

Adjustments in respect to income tax of previous years

623

448

Base erosion and anti-abuse tax

314

-

Research and development Credits

(142)

-

U.S. federal tax reform rate change

-

5,829

Other

(142)

-

Income tax expense

1,007

8,428

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the net deferred tax
asset are as follows:
2018

2017

Intangible assets

3,214

4,067

Contingent/fixed consideration

2,486

2,452

Reserves and provisions

2,116

2,006

Property, plant and equipment

8

(215)

Share based compensation

29

114

Tax attribute carryforwards

2,302

2,496

Other

(234)

(484)

9,921

10,436
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company has tax losses of $18,863 which arose in Canada that are
available for offset against future taxable profits. These losses begin to expire in 2031. The Company
has U.S. federal and state tax losses of $8,784 and $6,974, respectively, which begin to expire in
2031. The Company also has U.S. federal and state research and development tax credits of $142 and
$140 which begin to expire in 2038.
Deferred tax assets of $5,263 have not been recognized in respect of these losses as they may not be
used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the consolidated group and they have arisen in companies
that have no history of profitability. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, there are other deferred tax
assets which have been recognized on the consolidated statements of financial position which total
$9,920 and $10,436, respectively.
There are no significant temporary differences related to the investment in subsidiaries.
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no recognized deferred tax liability for taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Company’s subsidiaries. The Company has determined
that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following tables set out the classification of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities:

As at December 31, 2018
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Deferred contract costs
Other non-financial assets
Total assets
Bank overdraft
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Deferred contract revenue
Other financial liabilities
Other non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
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Fair value
through
profit or loss
15,312
15,312

Amortized
cost
229,916
229,916

Nonfinancial
53,800
24,680
45,177
28,457
23,977
176,091

Total carrying
amount
15,312
229,916
53,800
24,680
45,177
28,457
23,977
421,319

18,171

-

-

18,171

2,871
21,042

254,430
98,491
352,921

31,279
8,829
40,108

254,430
31,279
101,362
8,829
414,071
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As at December 31, 2017
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Deferred contract costs
Other non-financial assets
Total assets

Fair value
through
profit or loss
5,248
5,248

Amortized
cost
292,502
292,502

Nonfinancial
95,020
33,395
45,404
33,955
22,359
230,133

Total carrying
amount
5,248
292,502
95,020
33,395
45,404
33,955
22,359
527,883

23,049

-

-

23,049

4,761
27,810

300,377
134,579
434,956

37,750
9,843
47,593

300,377
37,750
139,340
9,843
510,359

Bank overdraft
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Deferred contract revenue
Other financial liabilities
Other non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities

Fair values
The following tables present information related to the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level within the guidance hierarchy in which the
fair value measurements fall as at December 31:
Level 1
Contingent consideration

-

-

Level 1
Interest rate swap
Contingent consideration

-

-

Fair value as at December 31, 2018
Level 2
Level 3
2,871
2,871

Total
2,871
2,871

Fair value as at December 31, 2017
Level 2
Level 3
505
4,256
505
4,256

Total
505
4,256
4,761

The fair value of all other financial instruments carried within the Company’s consolidated financial
statements is not materially different from their carrying amount.
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The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2. Derivative financial
instruments are recorded in Level 2. The fair value of the Swap was calculated as the present value of
the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.
If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in Level 3. Contingent consideration payable was the only instrument recorded as Level 3 as
the amounts payable were not based on observable inputs. The fair value of the contingent
consideration was calculated using forecasts based on financial plans prepared by management
covering the periods under agreements, using a discount rate of 15.5% and 26.0%. The Company
recorded a charge of $1,158 and $1,246 related to the change in fair value of the contingent
consideration for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
There have been no transfers among any levels during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Credit risk
The Company trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Company’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Company’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. As at December 31, 2018, two customers represented 18%
and 16% of the outstanding accounts receivable balance, respectively. As at December 31, 2017, one
customer represented 25.6% of the outstanding receivable balance. The requirement for impairment
is analyzed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these
instruments.
Liquidity risk
The Company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by monitoring its working capital and the
maturity dates of existing debt.
The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank overdrafts and bank loans.
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The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at
December 31, based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Bank overdraft
Secured borrowings
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Contingent consideration
As at December 31, 2018

Bank overdraft
Secured borrowings
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Interest rate swap
Contingent consideration
As at December 31, 2017

On
demand
18,171
99,069
117,240

On
demand
23,049
135,481
158,530

Less than
one year
-

One to
two years
-

Two to
five years
-

254,430
2,124
256,554

1,809
1,809

-

Less than
one year
-

One to
two years
-

Two to
five years
-

300,377
505
2,282
303,164

2,623
2,623

1,591
1,591

Greater
than five
years
-

Total
18,171
99,069

-

254,430
3,933
375,603

-

Total
23,049
135,481

-

300,377
505
6,496
465,908

Greater
than five
years

In addition to the financial liabilities listed in the tables above, the Company pays interest on its
secured borrowings.
Interest rate risk
The Company is subject to risks and losses resulting from fluctuations in interest rates on its bank
indebtedness, loans and borrowings. The ABL Credit Facility carries floating interest rates that are tied
to LIBOR or the prime rate, and therefore, the Company’s consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss and its cash flows will be exposed to changes in interest rates to the extent that
effective hedging arrangements are not in place. Based upon a sensitivity analysis as at December 31,
2018 and 2017, a hypothetical 1.0% change in interest rates would have changed the Company’s
floating rate obligations under the ABL Credit Facility by approximately $716 and $724, respectively.
The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes,
however, this does not preclude the adoption of specific hedging strategies in the future.
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20. REVENUES
Disaggregation of revenue
Types of goods and services:
Year ended
December 31,
2018

ACS

ARC

ProSys

Sigma

TeraMach

Shared
Services

346,540

9,207

543,065

119,822

53,168

-

1,071,802

38,434

-

68,102

27,374

9,907

1

143,818

384,974

9,207

611,167

147,196

63,075

1

1,215,620

Pivot provided
services

16,762

-

46,071

30,275

10,323

5

103,436

Third party
maintenance
contracts

8,578

-

36,560

7,320

2,116

-

54,574

25,340

-

82,631

37,595

12,439

5

158,010

Total revenue

410,314

9,207

693,798

184,791

75,514

6

1,373,630

Year ended
December 31,
2017

ACS

ARC

ProSys

Sigma

TeraMach

Shared
Services

Total

457,629

5,005

586,706

105,970

51,285

178

1,206,773

38,816

1

63,159

23,851

13,908

15

139,750

496,445

5,006

649,865

129,821

65,193

193

1,346,523

Pivot provided
services

25,083

-

36,846

31,319

7,617

507

101,372

Third party
maintenance
contracts

12,323

-

42,115

7,172

2,133

3

63,746

Service revenue

37,406

-

78,961

38,491

9,750

510

165,118

533,851

5,006

728,826

168,312

74,943

703

1,511,641

Hardware sales
Other sales
Product revenue

Service revenue

Hardware sales
Other sales
Product revenue

Total revenue
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Geographical markets:
Year ended
December 31,
2018

ACS

ARC

ProSys

Sigma

TeraMach

Shared
Services

Total

United States

401,011

9,207

686,902

173,984

-

-

1,271,104

Canada

1,075

-

60

104

75,486

-

76,725

International

8,228

-

6,836

10,703

28

6

25,801

Total revenue

410,314

9,207

693,798

184,791

75,514

6

1,373,630

Year ended
December 31,
2017

ACS

ARC

ProSys

Sigma

TeraMach

Shared
Services

Total

United States

523,047

5,006

722,189

167,686

-

-

1,417,928

738

-

177

215

74,490

511

76,131

International

10,066

-

6,460

411

453

192

17,582

Total revenue

533,851

5,006

728,826

168,312

74,943

703

1,511,641

ACS

ARC

ProSys

Sigma

TeraMach

Shared
Services

Total

384,974

9,207

611,167

147,196

63,075

1

1,215,620

Services
transferred at a
point in time

16,762

-

52,046

29,941

10,292

5

109,046

Services
transferred over
time

8,578

-

30,585

7,654

2,147

-

48,964

410,314

9,207

693,798

184,791

75,514

6

1,373,630

Canada

Timing of revenue recognition:
Year ended
December 31,
2018
Goods transferred
at a point in time

Total revenue
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Year ended
December 31,
2017
Goods transferred
at a point in time

ACS

ARC

ProSys

Sigma

TeraMach

Shared
Services

496,445

5,006

649,865

129,821

65,193

193

1,346,523

25,084

-

43,403

28,935

7,617

510

105,549

Services
transferred at a
point in time
Services
transferred over
time
Total revenue

Total

12,322

-

35,558

9,556

2,133

-

59,569

533,851

5,006

728,826

168,312

74,943

703

1,511,641

The Company had one customer that represented 20.7% of revenues for the year ended December
31, 2018. The Company had two customers that represented 27.5% and 11.2%, of revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2017.
21. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS EXPENSE
Employee salaries and benefits are included in the following:

Cost of sales
Employee compensation and benefit expenses

2018

2017

28,057

24,326

116,442

116,249

144,499

140,575

2018

2017

22. OTHER EXPENSE, NET

Restructuring costs
Transaction costs
Other (income) expense

2,534

357

312

1,632

(1,969)

2,413

877

4,402

23. CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF LIABILITIES
2018

2017

Contingent consideration

1,158

1,246

Interest rate swap

(505)

(1,037)

653

209
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24. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in non-cash working capital balances consist of the following:
2018

2017

Accounts receivable

61,625

8,759

Income taxes recoverable

(2,533)

(699)

Inventories

41,281

(45,595)

Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other liabilities

5,405

7,995

(50,853)

29,105

(1,677)

(370)

53,248

(805)

Interest paid and income taxes paid and classified as operating activities are as follows:
2018

2017

Interest paid

5,097

4,716

Income taxes paid

1,765

3,305
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25. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company’s business activities are conducted through six segments:
ACS
ACS is headquartered in Huntington Beach, California, and is one of the largest independent providers
of midrange IT solutions and system integration services in the United States. Its IT solutions are
focused on several practice areas essential to enterprise infrastructures: systems, storage, security,
networking and compliance. ACS provides exclusive IT services, which enable businesses to optimize
their IT infrastructure and improve the efficiency of mission-critical processes.
ARC
ARC is headquartered in San Antonio, Texas and provides analysis, planning, design, procurement,
installation and consultation services directly to end users and to suppliers of the State of Texas
Department of Information Resources program which awards contracts to IT service providers for
state agencies including schools, local and county governments, and healthcare institutions.
ProSys
With its headquarters located in Norcross, Georgia, ProSys is a leading provider of multi-branded IT
infrastructure solutions to enterprise, public sector and educational customers, primarily in the
Southeast region of the United States. It deploys customized, leading-edge solutions, from premier
technology vendors, such as Hewlett-Packard, Cisco, Microsoft and VMWare. These solutions include
hardware, software, and professional services, backed by comprehensive engineering expertise and
best-in-class products, to help customers address their most complex IT infrastructure needs.
Sigma
Sigma is based in San Antonio, Texas and specializes in IT Advanced Infrastructure solutions while
advising, implementing and maintaining enterprise data centers, centered on private cloud, mobility
and managed services.
TeraMach
TeraMach is a technology solution provider with offices in Ottawa and Toronto. TeraMach provides
technical solutions, services, staffing and cloud expertise to the Canadian federal and provincial
governments, the Canadian public sector and commercial enterprises.
Shared Services
The Shared Services segment consists of the Company’s head office activities, including strategic
leadership, finance, human resources, marketing and information systems.
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Revenues and segment profit
Year ended
December 31, 2018
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Employee compensation and
benefits
Other selling, general and
administrative expenses
Income (loss) before the
following:
Depreciation and
amortization

ACS
410,314
365,660
44,654

ARC
9,207
8,177
1,030

ProSys
693,798
620,728
73,070

Sigma
184,791
153,170
31,621

TeraMach
75,514
63,040
12,474

Shared
Services
6
(298)
304

Total
1,373,630
1,210,477
163,153

25,663

439

40,420

17,816

7,241

24,863

116,442

5,371

68

9,209

4,132

1,900

10,492

31,172

13,620

523

23,441

9,673

3,333

(35,051)

15,539
11,352

Finance expense
Change in fair value of
liabilities
Other expense

6,120
653
877

Loss before income taxes

Year ended
December 31, 2017
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Employee compensation
and benefits
Other selling, general and
administrative expenses
Income (loss) before the
following:
Depreciation and
amortization
Finance expense
Change in fair value of
liabilities
Other expense
Income before income taxes
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(3,463)

ACS
533,851
484,052
49,799

ARC
5,006
4,374
632

ProSys
728,826
651,069
77,757

Sigma
168,312
139,031
29,281

TeraMach
74,943
63,839
11,104

Shared
Services
703
525
178

Total
1,511,641
1,342,890
168,751

29,564

372

41,916

17,285

6,318

20,794

116,249

4,714

216

9,147

3,170

1,346

9,791

28,384

15,521

44

26,694

8,826

3,440

(30,407)

24,118
11,257
5,450
209
4,402
2,800
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Segment assets and liabilities
2018

2017

106,569

185,501

Assets
ACS
ARC

6,698

7,273

ProSys

203,186

237,839

Sigma

72,192

70,853

TeraMach

21,704

24,696

Shared Services

10,970

1,721

421,319

527,883

58,383

135,673

Liabilities
ACS
ARC

11,293

11,986

ProSys

180,510

216,720

Sigma

74,932

71,462

TeraMach

22,939

24,715

Shared Services

66,014

49,803

414,071

510,359

26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Until September 1, 2017, when the Company acquired a 40% interest in Applied, the Company was
deemed to have the primary exposure to the significant risks and rewards associated with sales by
Applied. The Company recognized this revenue on a gross basis. Total gross sales through the agent
were approximately $124,381 for the eight months ended August 31, 2017.
The Company has certain contractual arrangements with Old ProSys, whose activities and results are
consolidated with the Company. The Company is deemed to have primary exposure for the significant
risks and rewards associated with sales by Old ProSys to its third-party customers. Total sales
attributable to the activities of Old ProSys were approximately $425,302 and $403,198 for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Amounts due from Old ProSys were $83,173 and
$95,704 as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The contractual arrangements with Applied and Old ProSys as described above accounted in
aggregate for 51.5% and 38.2% of the overall Pivot revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively. The contractual arrangements with Applied may be terminated by either
party on notice to the other.
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ARC had certain contractual arrangements with GTS, formerly known as Austin Ribbon & Computer
Supplies, Inc., whose activities were consolidated with those of the Company. ARC received
notification from GTS that it wished to terminate the existing arrangement effective August 30,
2016. During June of 2016, ARC and GTS began the process of separation, and on July 1, 2016, the
Company was deemed to have effectively lost control over GTS for accounting purposes. The amount
due from GTS was $5,978 as at December 31, 2018 and 2017. The Company established a reserve of
$5,978 during Q3 2016, which has remained in place through December 31, 2018.
ACS incurred $966 and $1,500 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for
research and development provided by a related entity over which the subsidiary’s president has
significant influence. The Company terminated this agreement in August 2018. As part of the
termination agreement, ACS incurred an additional $774 in termination costs for year ended
December 31, 2018. $615 and $375 was payable as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The following table sets out the compensation of the key management of the Company:
2018

2017

2,001

1,586

Annual incentive plans

686

588

Share-based compensation

105

108

1,151

813

3,943

3,095

Compensation

Other compensation

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On February 12, 2019, the Board of Directors declared a common share dividend of C$0.04 per
common share, for a total of C$1,579, which was paid on March 1, 2019 to common shareholders of
record on February 22, 2019.
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